
GE.01-13028 

 
 E 

  
 

 

 
 

 
Economic and 
Social Council 
 
 

Distr. 
GENERAL 
 
E/CN.4/2001/SR.54 
5 December 2001 
 
ENGLISH 
Original: FRENCH 

 
 

COMMISSION ON HUMAN RIGHTS 
 

Fifty-seventh session 
 

SUMMARY RECORD OF THE 54th MEETING 
 

Held at the Palais des Nations, Geneva, 
on 12 April 2001, at 10 a.m. 

 
Chairperson: Mr. DESPOUY (Argentina) 

 
CONTENTS 

 
STATEMENT BY MR. SAID AL-SAHAF, MINISTER OF FOREIGN AFFAIRS OF IRAQ 
 
SPECIFIC GROUPS AND INDIVIDUALS: 
 
 (a) MIGRANT WORKERS 
 (b) MINORITIES 
 (c) MASS EXODUSES AND DISPLACED PERSONS 
 (d) OTHER VULNERABLE GROUPS AND INDIVIDUALS (continued) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 This record is subject to correction. 
 
 Corrections should be submitted in one of the working languages. They should be set forth in a 
memorandum and also incorporated in a copy of the record. They should be sent within one week of the 
date of this document to the Official Records Editing Section, room E.4108, Palais des Nations, Geneva. 
 
 Any corrections to the records of the public meetings of the Commission at this session will be 
consolidated in a single corrigendum, to be issued shortly after the end of the session. 
 

UNITED 
NATIONS 



 
E/CN.4/2001/SR.54 
Page 2 

 
The meeting was called to order at 10.10 a.m. 

 
STATEMENT BY MR. SAID AL-SAHAF, MINISTER OF FOREIGN AFFAIRS OF IRAQ  
 
1. Mr. SAID AL-SAHAF (Minister of Foreign Affairs of Iraq) said that, as the cradle of the first 
civilizations, Iraq was the repository of a heritage that had become the cornerstone of the life of Iraqi 
people today. Iraq had always given priority to the well-being of its people and had succeeded in offering 
them one of the highest standards of living in the region. The Iraqi Constitution and laws guaranteed the 
civil and political rights of its citizens, and democracy was assured through the conduct of free and direct 
legislative and local elections. The Autonomy Act passed in 1974 gave Iraqi Kurds the right to exercise 
their national rights and, in particular, to establish their own legislative, political, educational and cultural 
institutions. Women had the same economic, cultural and social rights as men and the State undertook to 
provide medical care and education for all children. 
 
2. However, the military aggression against Iraq in 1991 and the subsequent embargo had undermined 
all those efforts. That inhuman embargo, unprecedented in modern history, had deprived the Iraqi people 
of their most fundamental rights and created more than 1.5 million victims, mainly children, women and 
elderly persons, who suffered from the lack of care and from malnutrition. The use by the United States of 
America and the United Kingdom of depleted uranium ammunition in the aggression of 1991 had also 
caused severe long-term damage to the environment. 
 
3. The issue of human rights could not be considered in isolation. It was unfair to evaluate the human 
rights situation in Iraq on the basis of claims by entities that had openly declared their enmity to the 
country and pursued dubious political ends, while silence surrounded the crimes committed by those same 
entities through the maintenance of their embargo and their daily air raids against Iraq. 
 
4. Some influential States, led by the United States of America, were urging the Commission to use 
confrontational methods with regard to other States such as Iraq, China, Cuba and perhaps even Russia. 
Far from benefiting human rights, such methods merely intensified hostilities between States. The silence 
in the face of the flagrant violations perpetrated by the United States of America against the Iraqi people 
and the double, selective standards applied in the evaluation of human rights could only harm the 
credibility of human rights agencies, especially the Commission. While criticizing the human rights 
situation in Iraq and other countries, the United States of America supported the criminal acts committed 
by Israel, using its veto to prevent the sending of civil observers to the occupied Palestinian territories. It 
was vital and urgent that the Commission should take a clear position on that issue and demand an end to 
the crimes committed by the Zionist occupation forces against the Palestinian people. 
 
5. Dialogue and cooperation were the only means of promoting human rights in the world. The 
submission of politicized and selective draft resolutions targeting specific countries, usually developing 
ones, constituted open contempt of the noble purposes of human rights. The draft resolution to be 
presented by the European Union against Iraq was tendentious and contained a large number of 
unsubstantiated claims. Iraq appealed to all friendly and fair countries to stand against such draft 
resolutions. 
 
6. The Iraqi people stood solidly behind their Government under the leadership of President Saddam 
Hussein and had full confidence in its patriotism and devotion to the cause of a democratic society and to 
the principles of freedom, independence and sovereignty. Hostile formulations and ungrounded attacks 
were futile against such a secure and well protected fortress. He appealed to the Commission to join 
international and regional efforts aimed at lifting the economic sanctions imposed on Iraq, which for 
many years had been observing all the commitments imposed on it by the Security Council resolutions. 
 
 
 



 
    E/CN.4/2001/SR.54 
    Page 3 
 
SPECIFIC GROUPS AND INDIVIDUALS: 
 
 (a) MIGRANT WORKERS 
 (b) MINORITIES 
 (c) MASS EXODUSES AND DISPLACED PERSONS 
 (d) OTHER VULNERABLE GROUPS AND INDIVIDUALS (agenda item 14) (continued) 
(E/CN.4/2001/5 and Add.1-5, 79-81, 82 and Add.1, 83 and Add.1; E/CN.4/2001/NGO/19, 20, 34, 39, 
48, 58, 79, 84, 107, 111, 119, 130, 171, 177; E/CN.4/Sub.2/2000/22, 23, 27, 28) 
 
7. Mr. DENG (Representative of the Secretary-General on Internally Displaced Persons) said that, as 
his mandate was under consideration for renewal by the Commission, it was time to reflect on the 
progress made and on the challenges remaining in the quest for an effective system of protection and 
assistance for internally displaced persons. Internal displacement affected between 20 and 25 million 
people in more than 40 countries throughout the world, although Africa was the worst hit. They all needed 
protection, humanitarian assistance and durable solutions in accordance with universal standards of 
human dignity. 
 
8. Progress had been made insofar as the humanitarian challenge had been largely recognized. 
Moreover, a normative framework had been developed, which had been one of the main objectives of his 
mandate. Non-binding Guiding Principles had been drafted on the basis of existing norms of human rights 
law, humanitarian law and refugee law and had been welcomed at all levels, despite the fact that some 
Governments had recently expressed concern that they had been neither drafted nor formally adopted 
through intergovernmental negotiations. It should be remembered, however, that they had been the subject 
of extensive consultations. As they were not legally binding, although based on existing law, there was 
ample room for constructive dialogue to develop them without losing sight of the best interests of 
internally displaced populations. 
 
9. The development of international institutional arrangements for internally displaced persons had 
proved to be even more challenging. Of the options proposed, a collaborative approach had been chosen 
and steps had been taken to improve coordination. For example, the Emergency Relief Coordinator, who 
headed the Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs (OCHA) and chaired the Inter-Agency 
Standing Committee (IASC), had been assigned responsibility by the Secretary-General for ensuring that 
the needs of internally displaced persons were met. IASC had recently established a Senior Inter-Agency 
Network on Internal Displacement to appraise the effectiveness of coordination at the country level, and 
its frame of reference was also the Guiding Principles. It would shortly be submitting a report to the 
Secretary-General based on a number of country reviews and would make recommendations on additional 
measures that might be taken to improve coordination and the effectiveness of the system. It was to be 
hoped that the effort to inject renewed vigour into alleviating the plight of the displaced would bring 
practical progress at the local level. 
 
10. The country visits remained a key element of his activities. They offered the opportunity to study the 
situation of displaced persons at first hand and to evaluate the effectiveness of the measures adopted to 
meet their needs. In the dialogue with Governments and other relevant actors he always stressed that 
internal displacement was a problem falling under State sovereignty. Sovereignty should not be used as a 
barricade, however, but should be interpreted as the responsibility of a State towards its citizens and those 
under its jurisdiction. His role was essentially to facilitate cooperation between States and the 
international community in meeting those needs for which the capacity of the State might not be adequate. 
Furthermore, with all due respect for the sovereignty of States, the international community had a duty to 
intervene when populations needed protection and assistance and the Government on which they 
depended was unwilling to provide them. 
 
11. He had undertaken 17 country missions in different regions of the world, most recently to Burundi, 
Georgia, Armenia and Angola. He was also planning to visit Sudan, Indonesia, Turkey and the 



 
E/CN.4/2001/SR.54 
Page 4 

 
Philippines. Needless to say, country missions could be meaningful and improve the situation of internally 
displaced persons only if the authorities reacted positively and implemented his recommendations. While 
most countries responded positively to requests for visits, some Governments were evasive or negative, 
even when faced with a visibly severe problem of internal displacement. He urged the United Nations 
system to invite those countries to open up to international cooperation on behalf of their people. 
 
12. Finally, he had carried out independent studies of various aspects of internal displacement in order to 
familiarize himself with the global crisis and the multiple challenges facing the international community 
and gain a better understanding of them. In that context, the United Nations had called on the Brookings-
CUNY Project on Internal Displacement to organize seminars, projects and research into particular issues 
of interest to the international community. 
 
13. Mr. KAVADZE (Observer for Georgia) said that Georgia had some 250,000 internally displaced 
persons as a result of the military conflict and ethnic cleansing practised by the Abkhazian separatists. 
Contrary to what might be deduced from the various decisions taken by the Soviet authorities in the 
1930s, Abkhazia had been an integral part of Georgia for 2,000 years. Moreover, despite the ups and 
downs of a history marked by rebellions and infractions over the years, the majority of the population of 
Abkhazia was of Georgian origin, as the censuses of 1886, 1926 and 1989 had demonstrated. 
 
14. In May 2000, the Representative of the Secretary-General on Internally Displaced Persons had 
undertaken an official mission to Georgia at the Government’s invitation. On the basis of that visit he had 
made a number of recommendations that were set out in his report (document E/CN.4/2001/5/Add.4), 
which the Government was making every effort to put into effect. The Guiding Principles had been 
translated into Georgian and were regarded as an appropriate instrument for protecting the rights of 
displaced persons in Georgia. The Government had also deemed it necessary to translate the Guiding 
Principles into certain local languages, in particular Abkhaz and Ossetian, as the Representative had 
recommended. The recommendation regarding the need to guarantee the rights of displaced persons as 
citizens had also been taken into account and the Georgian Parliament had set up a special commission to 
amend the election law to bring it into line with Guiding Principle 22.1 (d). Steps had also been taken to 
improve living conditions, and the scope of a number of support programmes was to be extended to 
encompass internally displaced persons from the Abkhazia and the Georgia-South Ossetia conflicts. The 
implementation of self-sufficiency projects developed by the Government in close cooperation with the 
United Nations Development Programme (UNDP), the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner 
for Refugees (UNHCR), the United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Assistance, the 
World Bank, the United States Agency for International Development (USAID) and other international 
organizations and donor countries would facilitate the transition from humanitarian assistance to more 
sustainable development. 
 
15. The Representative also asked the Abkhazian authorities to stop dissuading displaced persons from 
returning and called on the authorities in South Ossetia to establish the necessary law and order 
mechanisms. In that context, the question of how to hold non-State actors accountable for failure to 
respect international standards and principles was crucial. The Commission should study the human rights 
violations committed in the territories of Abkhazia and South Ossetia, which were not controlled by the 
Government of Georgia. Regarding the Representative’s recommendation that the Government of Georgia 
should provide a fair mechanism for the restitution of returnees’ property or compensation, Georgia had in 
fact advocated the adoption of a draft resolution at the Commission’s last three sessions on the restitution 
of returnees’ housing and property. The issue had been passed on to the Subcommission which, it was to 
be hoped, would take a decision on the matter. 
 
16. The Government of Georgia welcomed the results of the regional workshop on internal displacement 
in the South Caucasus mentioned in the Representative’s report (E/CN.4/2001/5/Add.2) and hoped to 
participate in other seminars of that nature. He appealed to members of the Commission to support the 



 
    E/CN.4/2001/SR.54 
    Page 5 
 
draft resolution on internally displaced persons submitted by the delegation of Austria and to extend the 
mandate of the Representative of the Secretary-General for a further three years. 
 
17. Ms. MACHADO (Observer for Angola) said that her Government was committed to implementing a 
programme of action to achieve peace and stability through economic recovery and harmonious 
development. The National Assembly had, with those aims in mind, adopted amnesty legislation for 
political offenders. Moreover, the Government had set up a Peace and National Reconciliation Fund with 
a view to establishing the conditions required for the reintegration into society of those who had 
abandoned armed subversion and turned their backs on the terrorist activities led by Mr. Savimbi, who 
refused to respect the Lusaka Protocol. 
 
18. The programme launched by the Government was aimed at stabilizing the national economy and at 
measures designed to improve the social situation of the population as a whole and internally displaced 
persons, refugees and war-disabled persons in particular. Programmes had been drafted to improve 
education and health services, with priority being given in particular to measures to combat endemic 
diseases. The Government also guaranteed minimum social services to the most vulnerable sectors of the 
population, including internally displaced persons, now estimated at nearly 4 million people. It was 
reintegrating them in more stable areas with a view to offering them an environment in which they could 
become self-sufficient. A programme to stimulate agricultural production was also in operation in 13 of 
Angola’s 18 provinces. 
 
19. She was concerned that the various contributions to recovery and humanitarian aid programmes 
covered only 51 per cent of requirements and accordingly appealed to the international community to give 
her country even greater assistance in overcoming the serious difficulties it faced. 
 
20. Mr. KOCHARIAN (Observer for Armenia) said that the international community had paid little 
attention to the problem of internally displaced persons in Armenia. As it happened, almost 
200,000 persons—72,000 of whom had been displaced as a result of the Nagorno-Karabakh conflict and 
120,000 victims of the 1988 earthquake and other natural disasters—had been welcomed and partially 
integrated by his country. The Representative of the Secretary-General on Internally Displaced Persons 
had described their plight in his report, in particular the absence of suitable housing, which was 
attributable to the difficulties faced by Armenia: the transition to a market economy, resulting in a high 
unemployment rate, the unilateral economic blockade imposed by Turkey and the effects of the 
unresolved Nagorno-Karabakh issue—all factors which created insecurity and prevented internally 
displaced persons from returning home. 
 
21. In order to look after those persons and enable them to deal with the multiple problems they faced, 
the Government of Armenia had nevertheless taken a number of measures, aimed among other things at 
recovery and rehabilitation of border regions. Armenia appealed to the international donor community to 
provide help for the implementation of such measures and would, in fact, like to benefit from assistance 
similar to that granted to neighbouring countries. As such assistance was contingent on the presentation of 
a plan of action, the Government of Armenia had conducted many consultations with representatives of 
UNDP, the International Monetary Fund (IMF), the World Bank and other relevant organizations. The 
unilateral efforts being undertaken by Armenia on behalf of refugees and displaced persons required more 
support, including assistance provided through the existing mechanisms of the Commission on Human 
Rights, whose role should be to help re-establish the basic rights of displaced persons in the region and in 
Armenia in particular. 
 
22. He thanked the Representative of the Secretary-General for the highly constructive dialogue with his 
Government and hoped that the Representative would, under his renewed mandate, continue to follow up 
the activities undertaken pursuant to his recommendations. The Representative’s comprehensive report on  



 
E/CN.4/2001/SR.54 
Page 6 

 
the situation of displaced persons in Armenia could serve as a guide for international humanitarian 
organizations that decided to help those persons. 
 
23. Ms. SHEA (United States of America) said that women and children belonging to racial, ethnic and 
religious minorities were vicitims of chattel slavery in Sudan. By persisting in denouncing abductions and 
saying nothing of the much more serious phenomenon of slavery, the Commission was abdicating its 
fundamental responsibility to defend the universal right of every human being to life, liberty and personal 
security. The existence in Sudan of slavery and slavery-like practices had been corroborated by the reports 
presented annually for the past seven years by the Special Rapporteur and by the High Commissioner for 
Human Rights herself. Those practices were carried out mainly by members of the Sudanese army and 
Popular Defence Forces controlled by the Government, and by militias. 
 
24. In May 1999, the Government, while not admitting its responsibility, had acknowledged that the 
abduction and forced labour of women and children was a problem. In cooperation with United Nations 
agencies and other foreign bodies, it had established the Committee for the Eradication of Abduction of 
Women and Children (CEAWC). However, after two years of work CEAWC had managed to reunite only 
353 children with their families, in the course of a highly publicized operation shortly after its creation, 
out of the thousands of people from the South thought to be enslaved in the North. In his report to the 
General Assembly in September 2000, the Special Rapporteur had stated that between 5,000 and 15,000 
Dinka children and women had been abducted and transferred to areas controlled by the Arab Baggaara 
tribe and that CEAWC’s efforts had been seriously impeded. He had concluded that the Committee’s 
ineffectiveness was probably due to the lack of interest taken by the top political leadership in the process 
or by their reluctance to cooperate. Meanwhile, the raids continued and slaves were being taken at a faster 
rate than they could be released by CEAWC. 
 
25. Slavery was one aspect of the tragic situation in Sudan, along with the aerial bombardments of 
civilians, the Government’s restrictions on humanitarian aid, the religious persecution, the degradation of 
women, the conscription of child soldiers, the absence of the rule of law, and the 2 million dead and 
4 million displaced persons. Had the discovery of oil in Sudan encouraged some to resort to euphemisms 
and half-truths? At all events, the Commission would not have done its work until it had honestly 
confronted the horrendous practice of slavery and put an end to the brutal human rights violations in 
Sudan. It was up to the Commission to exert moral suasion, and it should therefore speak clearly and 
candidly. 
 
26. Ms. INAYATULLAH (Pakistan), referring to agenda item 14 (b), said that the fundamental rights of 
minorities, who made up 3 per cent of her country’s population, were guaranteed by the Constitution of 
Pakistan, which provided that every citizen had the right to profess, practise and propagate his religion 
and that all citizens were equal before the law. At the federal level there was the Ministry of Minorities, 
headed by a representative of the minorities, and a national Commission for Minorities, and at the local 
level there were two regional offices as well as district minority committees. Members of minorities held 
senior office in defence, administration and the judiciary. The present Government was fully aware of its 
responsibilities to minorities and was very keen to enhance understanding and harmony among the 
citizens of Pakistan, were they Muslim or non-Muslim. The different religions existing in Pakistan were 
practised freely and there was no restriction regarding the publication of religious works or religious 
instruction nor any discrimination regarding enrolment in public schools. 
 
27. In contrast to many countries, the provisions of the Pakistani Penal Code concerning blasphemy 
were neither discriminatory nor aimed at particular individuals or communities but were intended to 
ensure respect for all religions. Complaints under the blasphemy law did not emanate from the 
existence of the law but from its misuse. The Government of Pakistan had instituted administrative 
measures and operational safeguards to prevent such abuse. Persons accused of violating blasphemy laws 
enjoyed due legal process with full right to appeal at all levels. Some 75 per cent of cases were brought 



 
    E/CN.4/2001/SR.54 
    Page 7 
 
against Muslims and only 25 per cent against non-Muslims. No one had ever been executed for 
blasphemy. 
 
28. Contrary to simplistic notions, the existing system of separate electorates was designed to ensure the 
integration and effective participation of members of minorities in the social, economic and political life 
of Pakistan. In recent years some minorities had demanded the abolition of the system. The Government 
was currently examining the question but believed that it was extremely important to achieve consensus 
both nationally and within the minority communities. 
 
29. No country was perfect, but Pakistan had never shied away from constructive criticism. 
Unfortunately, however, it had been unjustifiably criticized for some years by certain so-called 
non-governmental organizations (NGOs) which used the question of minority rights to serve their own 
vested interests and to defame Islam. Paradoxically, those very organizations conveniently chose to ignore 
the situation of minorities in a country of the region where the rights of all minorities, in particular those 
of Muslim minorities, were trampled on. The delegation of Pakistan was very concerned by their 
selectivity.  
 
30. Ms. ACOSTA (Mexico), speaking on behalf of the Group of Latin American and Caribbean States 
(GRULAC), said that the countries of Latin America were concerned about the fate of migrants who, in 
many cases, fell into the hands of traffickers and were confronted by xenophobia in the countries of their 
destination, where hostile political groups were on the increase. At work, and in matters of education and 
housing, migrants were the butt of all types of discrimination, not to mention the treatment meted out to 
them at ports and airports on arrival. 
 
31. For the countries of Latin America and the Caribbean, a region with a long tradition of welcoming 
migrants, protection of the rights of migrants and their families was incompatible with a policing or 
repressive attitude. National human rights education programmes should include the inculcation of 
respect for the rights of migrant workers. Host countries should do everything possible to bring migrants’ 
families together and should set up programmes to regularize their status. The countries of Latin America 
and the Caribbean also appealed to States to apply article 36 (Communication and contact with nationals 
of the sending State) of the Vienna Convention on Consular Relations and to regard that article as an 
integral component of international human rights norms. In an Advisory Opinion of October 1999, the 
Inter-American Court of Human Rights had confirmed the validity of the article and its enforceability. 
 
32. It was vital that the World Conference against Racism included in its Declaration and Plan of Action 
the notions contained in the Declaration of Santiago adopted by the countries of Latin America at their 
preparatory regional conference. The Declaration reaffirmed the responsibility of Governments to 
safeguard and protect the human rights of migrants living in their territory and under their jurisdiction 
against illegal acts by their agents or by individuals or groups motivated by racism, recalled the 
vulnerable situation in which migrants often found themselves and the importance of creating conditions 
conducive to greater tolerance and respect between migrants and the rest of society, recalled the 
International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of Their 
Families opened for signature in 1990, and expressed concern at the international traffic in migrants. 
 
33. The States of Latin America and the Caribbean welcomed the report presented by the Special 
Rapporteur on the Human Rights of Migrants, which made an important contribution, particularly in the 
context of the forthcoming World Conference against Racism. 
 
34. Mr. NGOUBEYOU (Cameroon), speaking on agenda item 14 (b), said that a country could not 
progress smoothly and steadily unless it ensured that all the groups living in it could coexist peacefully. 
The existence of minorities in a State should be regarded as a benefit rather than a threat. Every 
multicultural or multi-ethnic State was required to guarantee equal rights for the different groups making 
up its population and to promote respect of individual cultures without discrimination. Cameroon thus 



 
E/CN.4/2001/SR.54 
Page 8 

 
welcomed the holding of a seminar in Arusha on 15 May 2000 on multiculturalism in Africa. It also 
supported the idea of creating a fund to help representatives of minorities to take part in the Working 
Group on Minorities, as had been the case with the Working Group on Indigenous Peoples. 
 
35. However, there was an unfortunate and growing confusion between the rights of minorities and the 
right of peoples to self-determination. Manipulation of minorities had become a weapon used to 
destabilize States and nations, to the point that no country in the world could be completely safe from 
interference and destructive extremism. When speaking of protecting minorities, therefore, emphasis 
should be placed on harmony and tolerance as much as on respect for the integrity of States. 
 
36. Cameroon, a multi-ethnic country where more than 230 ethnic groups and several religious groups 
lived together peacefully, regarded sociocultural diversity as a mutually enriching factor. The well-
understood and universally accepted aim was to construct a nation where each citizen felt at home 
everywhere, a task that called for sociocultural intermingling of ethnic groups, balanced regional 
development, fair distribution of the benefits of growth and protection of minorities and underprivileged 
groups. A social project of that nature had been adopted by Cameroon under the presidency of 
Mr. Paul Biya, whose Government had undertaken a revision of the Constitution in 1996 to guarantee the 
protection of minorities and the security of the individual. At the same time it had taken measures to 
promote economic development and build confidence within the country. The encouragement of sport, in 
particular, was one of the methods used to promote integration and cement national unity. Every year, the 
Government organized school games (ossuc) to foster encounters between young people from all 
provinces and allow all social classes to mix without ethnic considerations. Indeed, Cameroon felt that the 
refusal to accept differences was often at the root of many of the atrocities that so many countries 
throughout the world, particularly in Africa, had experienced and continued to suffer. Thanks to the 
measures and laws adopted by the National Assembly, Cameroon enjoyed a peaceful political and social 
climate. It was therefore regrettable that individuals should attempt to destabilize the country by inventing 
an alleged marginalization problem among one linguistic minority. The very composition of the political 
apparatus, which included a French-speaking Christian President, a Muslim Speaker of the National 
Assembly and an English-speaking Prime Minister from the West, was the best proof of the integration of 
different sociocultural groups in the country. 
 
37. Mr. GUILLEN BEKER (Peru), referring to the question of migrant workers, said that there was a 
contradiction between the growing tendency to restrict mobility, which was one of the driving forces 
behind economic development, and the increase in the pressure to migrate, which was a result of 
globalization, as the International Labour Organization (ILO) had mentioned in a report entitled “Workers 
without frontiers”. According to ILO, the breakdown of society due to restructuring would only prompt 
even more people to search for work abroad in the years to come. The total number of migrants in the 
world was already in excess of 120 million, compared with just 75 million in 1965. The corollary of that 
situation could be seen in growing manifestations of racism, xenophobia and discrimination, with migrant 
populations as victims. 
 
38. At the same time, globalization highlighted the interdependence of countries and consequently what 
might be called “shared responsibility”. The question of respect for the human rights of migrants should 
be seen in the light of that concept. The delegation of Peru fully supported the proposal by the Special 
Rapporteur on the Human Rights of Migrants to establish interregional, regional and bilateral dialogue 
between the countries of origin, transit and destination, to prevent irregular migration and, in particular, 
the illegal trafficking in migrants, the victims of which were often women and unaccompanied children. 
Particular attention should be paid to that question, especially in view of the fact that trafficking, which 
generated between 5 and 7 billion dollars per year, was the illegal commercial activity that produced most 
profit after drug trafficking. In that context, the delegation of Peru supported the recommendations of the 
Special Rapporteur to put an end to the impunity of traffickers and to cease criminalizing the victims, in 
other words the migrants themselves. 
 



 
    E/CN.4/2001/SR.54 
    Page 9 
 
39. Referring to the human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) and acquired immune deficiency syndrome 
(AIDS) pandemic, he said that his country was doing as much as its economic situation would allow to 
apply the Guidelines on HIV/AIDS and Human Rights. The right to health was a basic right which, when 
it could not be exercised, was closely linked with poverty. His delegation therefore supported the draft 
resolutions on the protection of human rights in the context of HIV/AIDS and on access to medication in 
the context of pandemics such as HIV/AIDS, and urged all delegations to do the same. 
 
40. Finally, referring to the mass exodus of displaced persons, he said that the mandate of the 
Representative of the Secretary-General on Internally Displaced Persons should be extended to enable 
him to carry on responding to questions that continued to arise in that field. 
 
41. Ms. ACOSTA (Mexico), referring to the question of migrant workers, said that migration was an 
integral component of globalization and would become an inescapable aspect of the evolving world order 
in the decades to come. There were currently more than 150 million migrants in the world, of whom 
40 per cent were without papers. Transfers of funds by migrants amounted to 70 thousand million dollars 
per year, more than the revenue from oil. For its part, the developed world required migrant labour. 
Together, those factors explained why the flow of migrants was increasing by 4 to 8 per cent every year. 
 
42. Mexico particularly welcomed the fact that the international community, as it prepared a world 
conference against racism, was focusing on the human rights of migrants. Countries and their 
governments should recognize that international human rights instruments were applicable to migrants 
and should refrain from criminalizing migrants, particularly by calling them “illegal”, which only served 
to justify violating their rights. 
 
43. Consideration of the issue by the international community should include the following elements: 
recognition of the concept of co-development, in other words the contribution made by migrants to the 
economies of the destination countries, and the need for those countries to contribute to the economic 
development of the migrants’ regions of origin; universal accession to the Convention on the Protection of 
the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families, which was due to enter into force in 
2001; recognition of the fact that free movement of capital and goods had to be accompanied by free 
movement of persons; and intensification of bilateral and regional mechanisms for dialogue on migration 
issues. In that respect, Mexico was encouraged by the position adopted by the regional conference in 
Santiago in preparation for the World Conference against Racism. 
 
44. The Government of President Vicente Fox in Mexico attached very great importance to the 
protection of the rights of migrants. Within the first three months of his term of office, President Fox had 
set up a bureau for Mexicans living abroad, launched a programme to facilitate transfers of funds by 
Mexicans living abroad, established social projects in the poorest regions of the country to slow down the 
exodus of migrants, initiated dialogue with the main migrant destination country on terms of shared 
responsibility and, finally, encouraged initiatives to enable Mexicans living abroad to exercise their 
political rights, among other things by being able to vote. 
 
45. The Mexican delegation had studied the report by the Special Rapporteur on the Human Rights of 
Migrants and renewed its invitation to her to visit Mexico in the coming months. It hoped that the two 
draft resolutions that Mexico proposed to submit on the human rights of migrants and on the Convention 
on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families would be widely 
supported by the members of the Commission, as in previous years. 
 
46. Mr. BOWA (Zambia) said that, although it was an obvious fact, he wished to remind the 
Commission that the countries which bore the brunt of receiving the largest numbers of refugees and 
asylum seekers were, like Zambia, economically weak. His country was one of the least developed, and 
its economic ills were compounded by the problem of external debt servicing. His delegation therefore 



 
E/CN.4/2001/SR.54 
Page 10 

 
appealed to creditor countries and to the IMF and the World Bank to implement debt relief for Zambia 
and other countries in the same situation. 
 
47. Zambia was at present playing host to around 260,000 refugees of 13 nationalities, the majority 
coming from Angola and the Democratic Republic of the Congo. Ex-combatants of the National Union 
for the Total Independence of Angola (UNITA) were also present on Zambian territory. In the absence of 
a United Nations agency expressly responsible for identifying refugees, the Government of Zambia often 
had difficulty in maintaining the civilian character of the camps where they lived. A United Nations 
agency should take responsibility for keeping the armed elements that Zambia was forced to take in apart 
from other refugees, as there was no relevant provision in the international protection regime. 
 
48. Zambia was receiving food aid from the World Food Programme (WFP) but it was woefully 
inadequate. Recently, WFP and UNHCR had launched an appeal on behalf of Zambia. If the appeal were 
ignored, the food situation for refugees, local communities and humanitarian workers in the camps could 
become critical. Although the Government had received assurances from WFP and UNHCR that the food 
situation of refugees would normalize in the first half of 2000, the problem seemed likely to persist 
undiminished in the months that followed. He therefore appealed to the Commission on Human Rights to 
join hands with those two humanitarian organizations and draw the attention of the international 
community to the need to provide increased support to refugees in Zambia and Africa in general. 
 
49. The report by the Representative of the Secretary-General on Internally Displaced Persons showed 
that the international community was increasingly aware of the global dimension of that problem. Given 
the scope of the task that remained to be completed, however, Zambia supported a renewal of the 
Representative’s mandate. 
 
50. Referring to migrants, he stressed the need for a concerted and comprehensive response at the 
national, regional and international level. The international community was currently confronted by a new 
scourge, namely trafficking in persons, especially women and children, by organized gangs. According to 
the International Organization for Migration (IOM), between 700,000 and 2 million women and children 
were involved in such trafficking every year. Zambia supported and was in the process of signing the 
United Nations Convention against Transnational Organized Crime and the Protocols Thereto and hoped 
that it would enter into force in the near future. It shared the concern of the Special Rapporteur on the 
Human Rights of Migrants regarding the importance of avoiding criminalization of victims of trafficking. 
It also believed that developed countries should endeavour to improve the economic situation of 
developing countries so that would-be migrants would find it unnecessary to migrate to other countries as 
“economic refugees”. 
 
51. As to the HIV/AIDS pandemic, protection of the human rights of persons with the virus or suffering 
from the disease was contingent on their having access to drugs as part of the basic human right to health. 
That question was critical for developing countries. 
 
52. Zambia was aware that conflicts were often at the root of human rights violations and was 
accordingly committed to the quest for a peaceful resolution of the conflicts in Africa. It welcomed the 
interest shown by the High Commissioner for Human Rights in that issue and appealed to all people of 
goodwill to support calls for increased financial and material support for refugee programmes in Africa in 
the spirit of burden-sharing. 
 
53. Mr. JAKUBOWSKI (Poland) denounced the flagrant violations of human rights to which persons 
affected by HIV/AIDS were subjected. AIDS was now the primary cause of death in Africa and had killed 
around 3 million people in 2000. The pandemic was taking on terrifying proportions, but there was reason 
for hope since much more was now known about the disease and ways of preventing it from spreading. 
Moreover, governments and politicians had shown an unprecedented commitment to act, highlighted in 



 
    E/CN.4/2001/SR.54 
    Page 11 
 
particular by the various undertakings in the Millennium Declaration adopted in September 2000 and by 
the decision to hold a special session of the General Assembly on HIV/AIDS. 
 
54. The promotion and protection of the human rights of persons affected by HIV/AIDS were essential 
not only to safeguard human dignity but also to facilitate and strengthen the implementation of prevention 
and treatment programmes with the participation of communities and NGOs. Effective action was 
possible only through major mobilization of the international community, NGOs and civil society. 
 
55. Poland, which had 20,000 people who were seropositive or suffering from AIDS, had gradually 
developed an anti-AIDS policy whose main objectives had been laid down in a national programme 
aimed at rationalizing the system of prevention and care as well as heightening public awareness. The 
delegation of Poland, which had made substantial contributions to the work of the Commission bearing on 
the protection of human rights in the context of HIV/AIDS, would be presenting a draft resolution on that 
subject sometime in the course of the year. It stressed the essential role played by governments, United 
Nations agencies (particularly the Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS)) and NGOs 
in mobilizing resources. It hoped that the Commission would resolve to express concern over the scale of 
the pandemic and its social and economic impact and over the numerous forms of discrimination and 
violations that the victims had to deal with. The position taken by the Commission could not but influence 
the work of the special session, which would be duty-bound to take into account the full complexity of the 
problem. 
 
56. Mr. LI Baodong (China) said that the Government of China had introduced a number of policies to 
promote and protect the rights of ethnic minorities and to stimulate the social and economic development 
of the regions where they lived. Of the 55 ethnic minority groups registered in China, 43 lived in the west 
of the country and the Government had recently adopted a development strategy for its western regions 
calling for heavy investment in infrastructure and industrial equipment. It also emphasized science, 
technology and education, in particular training for professionals among the various minorities. By 2000, 
the regions concerned had already registered sustained economic growth, continuation of which would 
reduce the gap between the east and west of the country and promote harmonious relations between their 
populations. 
 
57. The Government of China had also amended the law on the autonomy of ethnic minority regions to 
provide a legal basis for the measures designed to promote development in Western China. The new 
provisions called for preferential policies in finance, fiscal and commercial matters, greater efforts to 
alleviate poverty and protect the environment, and increased budgetary resources for the regions 
concerned. 
 
58. The autonomous status guaranteed the right of ethnic minorities to participate fully in the 
management of state affairs and to live according to their traditions, practising the religion and using the 
language of their choice. The protection of political, religious and cultural rights, on the one hand, and 
social and economic development, on the other, were not mutually exclusive but complementary. When 
the economy of a region improved, minorities who lived there were in a better position to develop their 
culture and traditions and practise their religion. For that reason the Government of China gave priority to 
improving the standard of living and modernizing the regions concerned. Conservatism and isolation were 
not the right approach to assuring the survival of a nation or culture. 
 
59. Mr. FERRER RODRIGUEZ (Cuba) said that regrettably, more than ten years after its adoption, the 
Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families had 
been ratified by only 15 States, although at present migrant movements and violations of the rights of 
migrants were on the increase. The anti-migrant measures enforced by the United States of America along 
its southern border since 1994 had cost the lives of hundreds of people, many immigrants had been 
arbitrarily detained for more than three years by the American immigration service and the standard of 



 
E/CN.4/2001/SR.54 
Page 12 

 
living of immigrants to the United States of America had deteriorated over the past 30 years, a situation 
that was indicative of flagrant discrimination against migrants and a general violation of their basic rights. 
 
60. The Government of Cuba had signed several agreements with the Government of the United States 
of America with a view to facilitating legal emigration and thereby protecting the life and physical 
integrity of Cubans wishing to emigrate to the United States. However, the so-called Cuban Adjustment 
Act of 1966 continued to encourage illegal emigration as it granted any Cuban landing in the United 
States the right of residence. The law also constituted a source of discrimination against illegal 
immigrants from other countries, who were treated like criminals. The Government of Cuba deplored the 
passive attitude of the American authorities in the face of activities by traffickers in Cuban migrants 
operating from the United States. It called on the American Government to put an end to their impunity 
and accept the proposed extradition to Cuba of 68 traffickers who had been arrested. It also called for the 
immediate revocation of the Cuban Adjustment Act. 
 
61. The measures mentioned in the Secretary-General’s report on protection of human rights in the 
context of HIV/AIDS would remain inadequate as long as developed countries failed to show solidarity 
with underdeveloped countries, where 95 per cent of the persons affected by HIV/AIDS were to be found, 
by giving them access to available drugs. It was unacceptable for transnational companies to continue to 
hide behind patents and intellectual property regimes in order to carry on selling those drugs at very high 
prices, thus depriving millions of people of the right to life. In that context, the delegation of Cuba 
repeated the offer made by the President of Cuba at the Millennium Summit to provide, free of charge, the 
services of 3,000 doctors in sub-Saharan Africa to combat the AIDS epidemic there if developed countries 
provided the necessary drugs and resources. 
 
62. The situation of minorities was another very worrying problem. In the Czech Republic, for example, 
the Roma minority were victims of segregation that was almost tantamount to apartheid. A worrying 
number of Roma children went to school in establishments intended for retarded children. More than two 
thirds of the Roma were unemployed and 1,800 cases of racist aggression against Roma had been 
registered in the past eight years. There was no simple solution to the problem. It was not just a question 
of applying the relevant provisions of international instruments or national legislation but also of showing 
genuine political will and implementing multisectoral measures on behalf of migrants. The Government 
of Cuba had put its words into action and set up a system of scholarships to enable 5,000 underprivileged 
foreign students, including a number of representatives of indigenous groups, to study free of charge in 
Cuba. 
 
Statements in exercise of the right of reply 
 
63. Mr. MAHMOUD (Observer for Sudan) categorically denied the allegations by the delegation of the 
United States of America that slavery was still practised in Sudan. Quoting a journalist from the New York 
Times, he told the members of the Commission that an article reporting on forms of slavery in the United 
States of America was available for their examination. 
 
64. Mr. UNLER (Observer for Turkey) said that his Government had not set up a blockade against 
Armenia. Although the two countries did not have diplomatic relations, there were regular flights between 
the two capitals and humanitarian aid had never been blocked at the frontiers. 
 
65. Mr. NAZARIAN (Observer for Armenia), referring to the report by the Representative of the 
Secretary-General on Internally Displaced Persons, said that the blockade which had been imposed for 
nine years on Armenia had a negative impact on the political and economic development of the country 
and on the situation of its population, particularly internally displaced persons and refugees. It represented 
a violation of all basic rights and also created a tense international climate in the region. 
 



 
    E/CN.4/2001/SR.54 
    Page 13 
 
66. Mr. UNLER (Observer for Turkey) said that if Armenia wanted to have good relations with countries 
in the region, it should put an end to the occupation of Azerbaijan and endeavour to find a peaceful 
settlement to the conflicts between itself and its neighbours. 
 
67. Mr. NAZARIAN (Observer for Armenia) said that Turkey was one of the countries with the worst 
human rights records in the world. He repeated that the unilateral blockade of Armenia deprived the 
country of its right to development and prevented its people from exercising their economic, social and 
cultural rights. 
 

The meeting rose at 1.05 p.m. 


